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May 18, 2012 

Request for Proposal #11-12 

Addendum No. 1 

To: Prospective Proposers, 

This addendum, containing the following additions, clarification, and/or changes, is issued prior to receipt of proposal 
and does hereby become part of the original specifications and documents and supersedes the original specifications 
and documents in case of conflict. Receipt of this addendum must be acknowledged by referencing and signing on 
the RFP document “Qualification  Form 7”, “Acknowledgement of Addenda”. The Acknowledgement of Addenda form 
must be returned with your sealed proposal. In the event that your sealed proposal has been mailed prior to receiving 
this addendum, you may submit the addendum in a second sealed envelope clearly marked as an addendum to be 
attached to RFP #11-12. This addendum and bid response must be received by 3:00 p.m., on Tuesday, May 29, 
2012. Failure to do so will result in the disqualification of the corresponding bid. 
 

Amend Specifications as follows: 

Below are the questions received to the RFP and the corresponding answer: 

Question 1. May a Proposer omit any litigation that is not material, either to the financial or other attributes of the 
proposal or with respect to the City’s interest? 

 A. The Proposer may not omit any litigation other than litigation related to accounts receivable.  

Question 2. Section 1 of Price Form 1 reads as follows: “Please specify the Contractor’s preferred adjustment 
method for processing fee.”  We request that the City add additional language to make the above 
statement read: “Please specify the Contractor’s preferred adjustment method for processing fee or 
processing credit.”   

 A. The requested revision has been incorporated; see revised Price Form 1, attached. To aid in 
preparation of proposals, all forms, including revised Price Form 1, are available on the City website 
which may be accessed at http://www.greensboro-nc.gov/index.aspx?page=576.  

Question 3. Please provide further clarification regarding the Renewal Option as described in Contract Principles 
Article 1.2. Does this imply mutual agreement between both the City of Greensboro and the successful 
proposer?   

 A. No. The intention is for the City to have the sole discretion to decide whether or not to renew the 
Marketing Contract. 
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Question 4. Contract Principles Article 3.5 describes several stipulations regarding the vehicle unloading process. 
For clarity, please provide more detail as to when a trailer that is already in the process of unloading 
must deter to a City vehicle. In what time frame? 

 A. A trailer that is in the process of unloading must defer to a City vehicle so that the “20 minute” limit 
can be met. 

Question 5. Article 3.15 of Contract Principles explains City- and state-level standards for data and records 
management. Please provide specific parameters as to the scope of City- and state-level data and 
records management in the context of “information which is necessary to verify calculations which are 
made pursuant to the Marketing Contract and as necessary to comply with state regulations.”  Is this 
limited to scale data and commodity sold data?   

 A. With respect to the requirement for state regulations, it is up to the Company to determine what 
information is necessary. With respect to City verification of calculations, the requisite data and 
records management will depend on the nature of the proposal and is not necessarily limited to 
scale data and commodities sold data. 

Question 6. Article 3.17 of Contract Principles suggests limitations on the delivery and acceptance of non-City 
materials and spot market tons to Proposers’ facilities. Please provide a best practices procedure for 
“the Company to fulfill its obligations under this Marketing Contract” and “not result in a lower Marketing 
Fee to the City.”   

 A. The City will not provide a best practices procedure but the City does not wish to have its 
recyclables commingled with more highly contaminated material which could adversely affect its 
marketability. 

Question 7. Article 5.2 of Contract Principles lays out responsibilities for taking “title to and liability for recovered 
recyclables.”  Please provide clearer context as to the limitations for indemnification to the successful 
proposer “upon receipt” of potentially hazardous materials.  

 A. Any hazardous materials identified by the Company at the time of the unloading of the City vehicle 
will be the responsibility of the City. Hazardous material found following such time shall be the 
responsibility of the Company. 

Question 8. Section 6 – Evaluation of Proposals presents various items for consideration in the City’s evaluation 
process. Page 6-1, Section 6.1, line 30 specifies “Distance of the receiving facility from the center of the 
City” as one item in the evaluation process. Please provide the street address of the City of 
Greensboro’s “center of the City.”  Does the City intend to include this item in Section 6.2 as part of the 
specific Evaluation Criteria? 

 A. The geographical center of the City is 2518 Woodview Drive, Greensboro, NC 27408. 
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Question 9. Can the City provide any particulars as to the operation of the Termination for Convenience clause as 
outlined in Contract Principles Article 7.2 (A), including the types of fees that might be associated with 
it? 

 A. 7.2(A) states that “the specific terms of this clause (i.e. the Convenience Termination Clause) and 
any fee to be associated with it will be negotiated with the selected Proposer.” The City cannot 
provide any additional particulars regarding the operation of this clause, because the “particulars” 
will be negotiated by the selected Proposer and the City. 

Question 10.  7.2 (B) of Contract Principles outlines responsibilities of each party arising from contract Termination by 
Law. Please provide sample cases in which the City has elected to terminate a solid waste/ recycling 
agreement “as a result of successful legal challenge.”   

 A. To our knowledge, the City has not terminated a solid waste/recycling contract “as a result of 
successful legal challenge.”  As with many contract provisions, this provision purports to address the 
rights and responsibilities of the parties in the event this condition occurs. 

Question 11. Taking into consideration that Contract Principles Article 8.2 sets the required minimum amount of the 
Performance Bond at $2,000,000, is there an opportunity for the successful Proposer to decline the 
amount of said bond as the contract period matures? 

 A. No. The provision states that the bond shall remain in effect for one year following the expiration of 
the contract. 

Question 12. May a Proposer satisfy the Insurance Requirements outlined in Contract Principles Appendix B Section 
(1) through umbrella insurance policies? 

 A. Yes. 

Question 13. Section 1.6, Table 1-3: Can City provide any historical composition percentages for residential single 
stream, ABC glass, and commercial mix? 

 A. Table 1-3 in the RFP shows the makeup of these streams for Calendar Year 2011. No other data is 
available. 

Question 14. Section 3.6, Chapter 10: With respect to bankruptcy, must Bidder include claims against third parties in 
bankruptcy, or is requested information solely limited to claims against Bidder while Bidder was in 
bankruptcy proceedings? 

 A. Bidder/Proposer must include any claims against Bidder while Bidder was in bankruptcy 
proceedings. 

Question 15. Section 3.6, Chapter 10: With respect to terminations of contracts, must Bidder include termination 
notices on contracts pursuant to expiration dates of renewal terms (e.g., in order to re-bid), or is 
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requested information solely limited to early terminations of Bidder’s contracts prior to an expected 
termination / expiration date? 

 A. The information requested is limited to early terminations of Proposers’ contracts prior to an 
expected expiration date. 

Question 16. Section 2.28: Where are the terms and conditions to which taking exceptions is not allowed per Page 2-
1, Sec 2.1 RFP Documents? 

 A. The City may consider exceptions or alternate language to the Contract Principles, however, 
significant modifications or exceptions are discouraged and may negatively affect the evaluation of 
the Proposer’s offer. The Proposer must clearly identify any proposed exceptions or modifications.  

DELETE the following sentence from Section 2.1: 

“No exception to the terms and conditions shall be allowed.” 

REPLACE Section 2.2 with the following: 

“A proposer shall not attempt to limit, restrict, or qualify its proposal. No adjustments, changes 
to, or deviations from this RFP will be considered, other than those expressly provided for by 
the Proposer.” 

Question 17. Section 1.6, Line 114: Who does the education today, the City or the contractor?  How much is allocated 
in Greensboro’s budget, and, is it enough?  What is the contribution of the current provider?  How will 
the education approach be evaluated?   

 A. Both the City and the contractor handle education currently. Approximately $100,000 is budgeted by 
the City in materials and staffing for recycling education. The current provider participates in 
educational programs. Evaluation of educational approach will be determined by quantity and 
quality of recyclables received. 

Question 18. Does the successful proposer receive all the tons generated in the City’s recycle program?  Will this be 
an exclusive contract? 

 A. See Section 4.1 of the Contract Principles. 

Question 19. Section 5, Price Form 1, Section 1: Can Contractor presume a “processing credit” is equivalent to 
“rebate” from sale of Recyclables? 

 A. No. Many contracts are structured around a fee per ton for the processing (Section 1 of Price Form 
1), with a revenue share component to address commodity sales (Section 4 of Price Form 1). The 
reference to “Processing Credit” in Section 1 is to address the possibility that a proposer may offer, 
in essence, to purchase the incoming recyclables from the city (i.e., offer a “credit”). This could be 
done with our without a commodities revenue sharing structure outlined in Section 4 of Price Form 
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1. Any “rebate” or revenue share from sale of recyclables should be described in Section 4, not in 
Section 1.  

Question 20. Section 5, Price Form 1, Section 1: “Percentage of Preferred Index” is unclear. Is this a CPI, or a 
Commodity index?   Can the City specify its intentions here? Are responders adjusting the Processing 
Fee or Credit due to commodity prices or due to changes over time in consumer prices? 

 A. This is intended to be CPI or similar, if the proposer requires such an escalator. A commodity index 
would more appropriately be cited in Section 4 of Price Form 1, if the proposer is offering a revenue 
share. 

Question 21. Please clarify: the city wants a Consent of Surety and not a bid bond? 

 A. The RFP does not require a Bid Bond or a Consent of Surety. It requires a letter from a surety 
(as set forth on page 3-5) indicating its intent to issue a performance bond should the Proposer 
be selected. The top of Form 4 has been amended by deleting the parenthetical and inserting ‘ 
A letter of intent from a surety is required with the proposal that states that the surety will issue 
a performance bond for the Proposer generally in the form below should it be selected.” See 
revised Qualification Form 4, attached. 

Question 22. Section 1.5, Current Solid Waste Services, Line 68-70 Table 1-1 and Line 75-76 Table 1-2, Page 1-3: 
Are the City of Greensboro recyclable tons delivered for processing included in the Guilford County 
Tons Diverted? Please clarify the distinction between Guilford  County Tons Diverted and City of 
Greensboro Recyclable Material Delivered for Processing. 

 A. Greensboro recyclables are included in Guilford County’s tons diverted. Guilford County totals 
include Greensboro totals plus other areas within the County. 

Question 23. Section 1.6, Recycling Program, Lines 114-121, Page 1-5:  Please explain City’s expectations for 
additional Recycling Education and Outreach from prospective Contractor. 

 A. See response to Question #17. 

Question 24. Section 3 – Proposal Preparation, 3.3 Preparation of Proposals, Lines 48-67, Page 3-2: Will the City 
consider alternative proposals, while not directly related to the processing and marketing of recovered 
recyclable materials, yet, may serve to increase recovery of recyclable materials collected by the City 
forces? 

 A. The City may consider alternative proposals.  

ADD the following section to the RFP: 

“3.8 Proposal Options 
The City understands that proposers may want to provide more than one option or alternative as 
part of their offer. Proposers offering multiple alternatives must conform to the proposal format and 
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must complete all appropriate proposal forms so that offered alternatives can be evaluated 
separately and comprehensively. Only those chapters listed in Table 3-1 that are affected by the 
alternative(s) should be repeated in the proposal. Alternatives that lack detailed explanation or are 
otherwise incomplete will not be considered. Additionally, the City reserves the right to not consider 
alternatives it deems are not in their best interest.” 

Question 25. In reference to questions that are submitted to the City for clarification—Will answers and responses be 
sent to everyone, or just the person/organization that is asking the question? 

 A. Answers to all questions will be posted in the form of an addendum to the City’s website.  

Question 26. Section 3, Item 3.2, Line 25 references the “RFP opening date and time”. We would like to request some 
clarification on this. Is this required to be on all envelopes that are submitted to the city?    

 A. Yes. 

Question 27. What is the scheduled opening date and time? 

 A. Tuesday, May 29, 2012 at 3:00 pm. Refer to Section 3.2 of the RFP. 

Question 28. Will there be a public opening of proposals? 

 A. No. 

Question 29. Section 2, Item 3.2 references all materials and responses becoming public record. If there is not a 
public opening of proposals, at what point do all proposals become public record?   

 A. This information will be made available on the City website which may be accessed at 
http://www.greensboro-nc.gov/index.aspx?page=576 . Proposals will be posted within two business 
days of the day they are received. 

Question 30. Please clarify the parameters associated with Article VI, Section 6.4 related to delivery location of 
processing facility, volume of single stream materials, and composition of single stream materials. Is this 
specific to the delivery location set forth in the Company’s proposal? 

 A. Yes, as long as the delivery location is also the processing location.  

Question 31. In Section 6.1, Line 30, what is being considered the “center of the City” for the purposes of this RFP? 

 A. See response to Question #8. 
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QUALIFICATION FORM 4 - REVISED 
PERFORMANCE BOND FORM 

 
A letter of intent from a surety is required with the proposal that states that the surety will issue a performance bond 
for the Proposer generally in the form below should it be selected. 
 

Date of Execution of this Bond:            

Name and Address of Principal (Contractor):    
  
  
  

Name and Address of Surety:   
  
  
  

Name and Address of Contracting Body: 
  
  
  

Amount of Bond:             
      

Contract That certain contract by and between the Principal and the Contracting Body 
above named dated      for  

   
    
   

  

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the PRINCIPAL and SURETY above named, are held and firmly 
bound unto the above-named Contracting Body, hereinafter called the Contracting Body, in the penal sum of the 
amount stated above for the payment of which sum well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, 
executors, administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGAITON IS SUCH, that whereas the Principal entered into a certain contract with 
the Contracting Body, identified as shown above and hereto attached; 
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QUALIFICATION FORM 4 - REVISED 
PERFORMANCE BOND FORM 

(CONTINUED) 

 

NOW THEREFORE, if the Principal shall well and truly perform and fulfill all the undertakings, covenants, terms, 
conditions, and agreements of said contract during the original term of said contract and any extensions thereof that 
may be granted by the Contracting Body, with or without notice to the Surety, and during the life of any guaranty 
required under the contract, and shall also well and truly perform and fulfill all the undertakings, covenants, terms, 
conditions, and agreements of any and all duly authorized modifications of the contract that may hereafter be made, 
notice of which modifications to the Surety being hereby waived, then, this obligation to be void; otherwise, to remain 
in full force and virtue. 

 THIS PERFORMANCE BOND is made and given pursuant to the requirements and provisions of Section 129 of 
Chapter 143 of the General Statutes of North Carolina and pursuant to Article 3 of Chapter 44-A of the General 
Statutes of North Carolina, and each and every provision set forth and contained in Section 129 of Chapter 143 and 
in Article 3 of Chapter 44-A of the General Statutes of North Carolina is incorporated herein, made a part hereof, and 
deemed to be conclusively written into this Bond. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the above-bounden parties have executed this instrument under their several seals as of 
the date indicated above, the name and corporate seal of each corporate party being hereto affixed and these 
presents duly signed by its undersigned and representative, pursuant to authority of its governing body. 
 

WITNESS:    
Principal (Name of individual and trade name, 
partnership, corporation, or joint venture) 

        
(Proprietorship or Partnership) 
Printed Name    BY       (SEAL) 
 Printed Name   
 TITLE    
       (Owner, Partner, Office held in  
       corporation, joint venture) 
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QUALIFICATION FORM 4 - REVISED 
PERFORMANCE BOND FORM 

(CONTINUED) 
 

ATTEST: (Corporation)     (Corporate Seal of Principal) 

BY        

Printed Name   

TITLE        

  (Corporation Secretary or 

  Assistant Secretary Only)         

        Surety (Name of Surety Company) 

 

WITNESS:       
 BY        

       Printed Name       

   TITLE  Attorney in Fact     

 

       (Corporate Seal of Surety) 

COUNTERSIGNED:           

       (Address of Attorney in Fact) 

     

N.C. Licensed Resident Agent 
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PRICE FORM 1 - REVISED 
MARKETING FEE 

Section 1: Processing Fee or Credit 
The Contractor may choose to offer either a processing fee, a processing credit, or neither of the two. A processing 
fee is the amount per ton that the City will pay to the Contractor for every City-ton delivered to the materials recovery 
facility. A processing credit is the amount per ton that the Contractor will pay to the City for every City-ton delivered to 
the materials recovery facility. 

Please specify the Processing Fee or Credit in the table below. If the Contractor does not wish to offer a Processing 
Fee or Credit, please leave the table blank: 

Please specify if the Contractor will offer a Processing Fee or Processing Credit: 

 

Monthly Tonnage Range per Ton Delivered to the 
Materials Recovery Facility 

1,200 up to 2,200 Tons $________ per Ton 
2,201 up to 2,600 Tons $________ per Ton 
2,601 up to 3,000 Tons $________ per Ton 
3,001 up to 3,400 Tons $________ per Ton 

Please specify the Contractor’s preferred adjustment method for processing fee or processing credit. 

 Frequency_________________________ 

 Index___________________________ 

 Percentage of Preferred Index___________________ 

 
Write either “Processing Fee” or “Processing Credit” here 

 
Section 2: Proposed Contract Term 
Article I of the Contract Principles identifies a range for the contract term. Please specify the desire contract term and 
explain whether the proposed term represents the minimum duration for which the offered pricing structure is valid. 

Proposed Contract Term:    

Explanation:   

  

  

  

  

  
If additional space is required, please attach an additional page to this form. 
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Section 3: Other Charges to be Paid by the City to the Contractor 

Please describe any other charges the City will pay the Contractor. These other charges would be in addition to any 
Processing Fee or Credit described in Section 1 above. 

Other Charges description: 

  

  

  

  

  
If additional space is required to describe other charges, please attach an additional page to this form. 
 
 
Section 4: Other Payments to be Paid by the Contractor to the City 

Please describe any other payments to the City by the Contractor. These other payments would be in addition to any 
payments described above and could include revenue sharing, host fee or other incentive(s) offered by the 
Contractor. 

Other Payments description: 

  

  

  

  

  

If additional space is required to describe other charges, please attach an additional page to this form. 
 



RFP #11-12  

City of Greensboro Addendum No. 1 Page 5-4 
RFP for Processing & Marketing of Recovered Recyclables   revised May 17, 2012 

Section 5: Sample Payment/Revenue Calculation 
Using the pricing structure offered above, calculate below the value of a monthly invoice or payment to the City. For 
purposes of this calculation below, assume that the City-delivered tonnage for the month is 2,400 tons. 

 


